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Friday, September 10, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:04 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, please be seated.

Any preliminary matters before we get started this morning from any of the parties?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KING:  Yes, sir, just two, I guess, the first just procedural.  The parties have been talking about written argument.  We haven't agreed on any dates not because we can't agree, but because it is obviously dependent on completion of undertakings.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  I think the Board is satisfied that we can communicate that afterwards, Mr. King, and we will put something out in writing shortly after, as soon as everyone is satisfied with what their needs are.

MR. KING:  Okay.  And the second item has to do with something I think I talked a bit about yesterday, which was withdrawing the request for relief for the Board to establish an IR plan and basically just set base year rates for the fiscal test year.

We have done some further sort of talking about that this morning, and I think the agreed upon procedure is that we would withdraw that request for relief, but not close the Board docket number and not withdraw any evidence related to the IR, and sort of move into a phased approach for the proceeding so that we would commence negotiations on an IR plan after receiving the Board's final decision.

That way, parties have sort of a base year set of rates that they can see before contemplating their positions on IR.  That is sort of the -- what we have been speaking about this morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I am trying to think of how we would receive submissions on the phasing element of it, the timing and what have you, whether or not that could be dealt with in argument, and then we could perhaps, in our decision, lay out the schedule as to what is appropriate as far as the second phase and the mechanics of that.

Obviously, I don't think we have any difficulty with that approach.  It is just the timing.  We wouldn't want this phase 2 to be so far disconnected from the main case that new notice should be issued.  If we are not -- if this is being phased, it should be relatively quickly, and I say relative.  I am not putting a time length on that, but, you know, obviously we are not going to resurface with phase 2 a year from now and not have new notice.

Are there any comments from anyone on that?

MR. KING:  Well, maybe do we need to talk more about the dates?

I mean, there are two sort of variables, in terms of negotiating around an IR plan.  One is the parties want a final decision on base year rates, and the second is I think -- and I will let Mr. Stoll speak to this.  Some -- it is the view of some of the intervenors that there are some critical moving parts that happened in March and April that they would like some clarity on.

MR. STOLL:  I think there has been some indication there has been some changing in the treatment of the GICs, and also the first loan is coming due.  And I don't want us to jump into an IR plan where it is disconnected from what is going on and a year later we are going to be hitting the off ramp because of the -- just because of the mechanics, because we didn't wait a month or two.

I think some of these events are going to crystallize by March of next year.  So that was, I guess, our concern from a practical perspective.  We didn't want to make a premature decision that was going to force us to come back to the Board before the end of the IR period.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.

MR. STOLL:  I am speaking for IGPC.  I don't want to be speaking for Mr. Tunley or Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In a similar vein, from my perspective, the closer we are to the situation that prevailed when Enbridge and Union came in within an IR plan, where they had a base year decision, and then they filed for IRM.  We had some of the base year having occurred when the filing happened and we had some opportunity to see how the base year actuals related to the base year test year -- was helpful, in my mind, in reaching a settlement.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that is from our perspective -- that is part of the -- why we would want to do this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think that if we received -- well, we're receiving a proposal to stage this now.  That type of timing, I think, is within the framework that would work for the Board, as far as a phasing, going to phase 2.  So we can establish a schedule around that and expectations, hard expectations, as to when we would carry on with phase 2, with the knowledge of those dates and those trigger dates.

I understand, from you, or -- well, Mr. King, March then is a date that...

MR. KING:  I think that would be acceptable.  I mean, quite frankly, from a practical perspective, one of the reasons why last night I started to think about a phased approach as opposed to closing the docket was precisely these reasons.  I didn't want to have a new docket number, with new notice, new publication requirements, two months of intervention time and stuff like that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is a balancing act and I think that strikes a good balance.  So we will -- procedurally, we will follow up with a schedule for submissions, and if it is appropriate at that time, we will set out the phasing of this.  But more likely, I suppose - I am thinking out loud here - in the decision that we put out on the base rates, we can establish what is happening next, as far as the acceptance of the phased approach, and lay it out there.

Okay.  So if there is nothing else, we will -- Mr. King, you have a new panel up.

MR. KING:  Thank you.  Yes.  This morning we have the cost-of-capital panel.  That evidence is at Exhibit E in the prefiled evidence.

Sitting is Ms. O'Meara and Mr. Cowan, again, and they are joined by Ms. McShane, who prepared the opinion at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1.  I would ask that she be sworn.
INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. - PANEL 3
^
Laurie O'Meara, Previously Sworn


John Robert Cowan, Previously Sworn


Kathleen McShane, Sworn


MR. KING:  As we did with Mr. Todd, I would just ask that we, subject to any objections, recognize Ms. McShane as an expert in the fields covered by her opinion evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Any objections from any of the parties?


MR. STOLL.  No objection.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just a little clarification.  My understanding is that she was retained and provided an expert report on cost of capital, in particular, and that is what she is providing evidence in this proceeding for?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  The Board will recognize Ms. McShane as an expert.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. King:

MR. KING:  Just a couple of questions.  Again, I have no direct other than to have Ms. McShane adopt her evidence.

Ms. McShane, you prepared the opinion evidence at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1?

MS. McSHANE:  I did.

MR. KING:  And to the best of your knowledge and belief, that evidence is truthful and accurate?

MS. McSHANE:  It is.

MR. KING:  I understand we are going to start with Mr. Tunley this morning.

MR. TUNLEY:  I hope so.

MR. KING:  He has longer hair than the last time we met.

MR. TUNLEY:  No time to get a haircut.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Tunley.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

Most of my questions are going to be about the factual nature and the changes to capital structure that have taken place and that are taking place in the course of the plan.  But, Ms. McShane, if you are able to comment on those or answer my questions, I am not limiting who is going to answer.

But if I can just start, in the original work-up of the revenue deficiency, which I realize the end number has changed, but it was Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 2, one of the major components, as I understand it, the first major component in that exhibit was an amount of revenue deficiency, $349,657, which relates to a rate of return on the increase in the rate base.

Have I correctly described that in the exhibit that I referred you to?  The increase in rate base is shown as 3.9 million.  There is a 2007 approved rate of return at 8.87, and that generates $349,657 of the deficiency; is that right?

MS. McSHANE:  I guess -- they're looking to me to answer this, so based on that exhibit, that would appear to be correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And the calculation is as I described it?  It is applying a rate of return to the increase in the rate base that has occurred since 2007.  That's the calculation that is laid out here.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  It looks to me like what's been done -- I didn't prepare this, nor did I review it, so...

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand that.

MS. McSHANE:  I am just trying to interpret it at the same time.

But the calculation that is there is the change in the rate base, times the approved rate of return in 2007.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. McSHANE:  So it is the delta just based on the change of rate base.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And the increase in the rate base that is referenced here, we can all agree, I think, is largely the addition in 2008/2009 of the IGPC plant, as a new element of the rate base –- or, sorry, the pipeline, not the plant.  Mr. Stoll is looking at me.

MS. McSHANE:  That would have been the major change in rate base since 2007.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And the rate that is being applied to that, the 8.87, that is a blend of the rate of return on equity and on debt, right?

MS. McSHANE:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And as I understand it, that is the –- that asset, the pipeline, was built by IGPC and essentially has been transferred over with associated debt to NRG; is that correct?

MR. COWAN:  It was built by NRG.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And financed by IGPC, then; is that right?

MR. COWAN:  Well, in part.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  Also by NRG, in part.

MS. O'MEARA:  There was aid-to-construct element to it, the cost, and that was IGPC's portion.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Okay.  I understand that -- and it is in one of the interrogatory responses -- that NRG has not added to its equity.  It hasn't -- there's been no new equity injection into NRG by its shareholder since 2007, since the base year for RP 2005-0544?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And none is contemplated during the term of this rate proceeding that is covered through to 2014?

MR. COWAN:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And as I understand it, the same 2006 retractable share structure is to be retained; there is no plan to reorganize the share holdings of NRG in any way?

MR. COWAN:  That is not entirely true.  I can't report that the retractable share issue is going to be dealt with immediately.

NRG has an intention to eliminate that feature as soon as it can, and we have reason to believe that they will be -- that the company will be successful in removing that feature of the shares within 18 months, or some perhaps shorter period.

But at the same time, I can't tell you -- I can't give you assurances, because it is not within the realm of the decision-making ability of NRG to command that.  But 
what -- we are negotiating it and we are moving in the right direction.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is in the control of the shareholder; is that right?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so --

MR. COWAN:  But we are focussed on it.  We understand the concern.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in the financial statements that we see, the audited statements, Exhibit A3, tab 1, schedules 1 through 6, that is the underlying share structure, is the retractable share structure?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And the only change that you are negotiating, sir, am I right, that is the removal, in effect of the –-

MR. COWAN:  Retractable feature.

MR. TUNLEY:  Retractable feature.  Okay.  Thank you.

If we could just look at one of those sets of financial statements -- it doesn't matter which one -- but let's look at 2006, which is, I believe, A3, tab 1, schedule 4.

If we look at that set of the financial statements and look at page 3, which is the balance sheet, we see the shareholder's equity near the bottom of the page, and the share capital, the 13,461,439.

Do you have that in front of you?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You will see that there is a deficit under that.  There is, in effect a shareholder equity deficit and -- in brackets, which is netted out to 4.3 million; is that right?

MR. COWAN:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you know what that is, what it represents on the financial statements?

MS. O'MEARA:  Well, the deficit is -- excuse me, is an accumulation of your earnings and losses over a number of years.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

So the accumulated losses over a number of years was at 9 million, roughly, in 2006; correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  It appears so, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that number is coming down fairly rapidly over the years we are dealing with?

If you look at 2011, which I think is the pro forma at Exhibit A3, tab 1, schedule 6, it is projected to be down, if you look at the second page, down by about a million-five, to 7.5 million, roughly?  Do you see that number?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that means, I take it, that NRG has been accumulating surplus money to offset the shareholder deficit, the --

MS. O'MEARA:  Earnings.  Not money, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Earnings, right.

And the effect of that is to rebuild the net equity from the 4-point-something number that we saw in 2006 up to 5.9 million, which we see projected for 2011, right?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, it has that effect.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Given that there's been no new equity injected -- we have all agreed -- that is earnings of this company that are simply retained and applied in this fashion, right?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And NRG has been earning a rate of return on its existing equity at 9.85 percent at least since 2010, February; is that right?

MS. McSHANE:  I don't believe that is correct.  They would begin earning the equity return that is indicated in the Board's cost-of-capital report of December 2009, as of the beginning of the test year, which starts October 1st of 2010.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  Prior to that, they would have been earning something less than that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  9.75, I think, prior to this adjustment?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I don't think that is right.  I think they were earning the ROE that was prescribed under the old formula.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Well, maybe I will come back to that.

What do you believe the rate is, Ms. McShane?  Rate of return on equity for the period --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is the dichotomy you're looking to find, Mr. Tunley, the actual rate of return or the approved rate of return?

MR. TUNLEY:  I am looking for the approved rate of return that the Board allows on the equity and includes in rates.  I am looking for the period from 2007 up to 2010.

I am being shown Exhibit E5, tab 1, schedule 2, and it looks like 9.2 percent, is that --

MS. McSHANE:  That is what I was going to say.  That looks like the rate for 2009.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So if we start in 2007, this Board found that the actual equity of NRG in 2007 was $3,392,650.  I was just looking for where I found that number in the Board's reasons in EB-2005-0554.  I am pretty sure it is here somewhere.

MR. COWAN:  What are we looking for, Mr. Tunley?

MR. TUNLEY:  I'm sorry.  I am looking for the Board's finding in EB- -- in its decision with reasons September 20, 2006 in EB-2005-0544, in which --

MR. MILLAR:  I happen to have copies of this decision.  I was going to refer to it.  So would it be helpful if we entered it as an exhibit?

MR. TUNLEY:  Actually, it would.  I would have thought it was already, but, I'm sorry, yes, it would be very helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll call that Exhibit K3.1, and I will have copies for everyone.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1.:  ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD DECISION WITH REASONS dated SEPTEMBER 20, 2006 IN EB-2005-0544.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I am looking at page 20 of that decision, and there is a chart showing capital structure and cost of capital.

MS. McSHANE:  So on this.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just to help you, this is in the Board's findings with respect to cost of capital and capital structure.  In those findings, the Board accepts, as I understand it, this is as the actual capital structure, in 2007.  Is that your understanding?

MS. McSHANE:  We're talking about the table that is on page 20?

MR. TUNLEY:  That's correct.

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I do not believe that is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  What does it represent, then?

MS. McSHANE:  It represents what NRG proposed, but it is not what the Board approved.

MR. TUNLEY:  In terms of the number for the common equity, the Board did find, I believe, that what was proposed was based on the actual and, therefore, accepted it.  It didn't accept the additional.  Is that not correct?

MS. McSHANE:  No, that's not correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  So what was the common equity that the Board found and accepted in this decision with reasons, as you understand it, Ms. McShane?

MS. McSHANE:  What I understand is that NRG had proposed this capital structure, but that the Board approved a capital structure with 42 percent equity in it.

So assuming with me for the moment that this is -- this total is equal to the rate base that they approved, then they would have approved significantly more common equity than is shown on this table on page 20.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Maybe I misread it, and you can help me, but on page 26 the Board finds -- at the very top of the page, the Board finds that the actual equity ratio of 42 percent is reasonable, and that is the decision it makes.

MS. McSHANE:  That's right.

My recollection of this, and my understanding, is that the Board found, in contrast to the 35 percent that was sitting on the table at page 20, that the actual equity and the actual equity ratio for the test period would be 41.5 percent equity, and they approved a deemed equity ratio of 42.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So on that basis, you believe the number of 3.392 million on page 20 is lower than the Board actually found, is that --

MS. McSHANE:  I believe so.  I was just looking in the exhibits that were filed to see if there was an actual number that was...

I am not seeing it in the exhibits, but it would follow, if they didn't approve 35 but approved 42, that the dollars of equity they approved would have been -- would have been higher.

MR. TUNLEY:  On a deemed basis, they approved a higher number.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  But they also said in the decision that the deemed 42, in the Board's view, was close to the actual, which the Board found to be 41-1/2 percent equity, not 35.

MR. TUNLEY:  You will agree with me that the number is somewhere between $3.4 and $4.2 million of common equity, depending on whether you use the 35 or the --

MS. McSHANE:  If the rate base -- so the rate base -- again, I don't have the exact number that the Board approved for rate base, but assume for the moment that it is close to the total amount that is on page 20 of the decision with reasons, and so, you know, it is about $9.7 million times 42 percent.  So...

MR. TUNLEY:  It's going to be a little under 4.2, maybe $4.1 million?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And then what I wanted to understand was how that number in 2007 goes up to, in your -- as I understand it, the only equity is retained earnings, and that the return on the equity portion that is being retained is about 9.2 percent over most of the period from 2007 onwards; is that right?  That was the number that you corrected me.  It is not 9.85.  It is 9.2?

MS. McSHANE:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So we start with this number of $4.1, roughly, million - you have corrected me, I thought it was 3.4 - in 2007.  And, as I understand it, by the time we get to projected September 30, 2011, the equity that the company is reporting is the schedule I took you to, Exhibit A3, tab 1, schedule 6, page 2.  That number has risen to 5.949 million.  The actual equity of the company has gone up?

MS. McSHANE:  So this is -- what you are looking at are financial statements for the entire Natural Resource Gas Limited.  So the increase in equity would be more than just the return on rate base.

It would be dollars of earnings from --

MR. TUNLEY:  From ratepayers?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I mean, that part is from ratepayers, but there are also earnings from, like, water heater rentals, activities which are not included in the revenue requirement.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is there a breakdown of how we get

from -- whether it is 3.4 or 4.2 million dollars common equity in 2007 test year to the 7.5 -- sorry, the 5.949 amount in 2011, the proposed 2011 test year?

Is that broken out somewhere in the exhibits? 

MS. McSHANE:  Before I answer that question -- which I have to confer with my panel members -- the equity that we're talking about, to begin with, the 4.2-ish amount of equity, is the equity underpinning rate base only.

So if you look at -- sorry, this would be the financial statement from September 30th.  I have the 2008 one, which has the -– sorry, the one for 2007.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are interested in A3, tab 1, schedule 3.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  This is where this came from.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  So the balance sheet from September 30th, 2007.  So the actual equity in Natural Resource Gas Limited -- not underpinning the rate base only -- is $4,754,353.

So if we are going to compare apples and apples, we need to look at going from 4.754 million dollars at the end of 2007 to –-

MR. TUNLEY:  5.949?

MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And maybe it is an undertaking.  It is unfair for me to have brought it forward without knowing the answer, but if there isn't a breakdown of getting from those -- that first number to the 5.49, and from the rate base number, the amount of equity attributable to rate base in 2007 up to 2011, I wonder if we could have those broken out by way of an undertaking.

Sorry, I misspoke.  It is 5.549, and I think I said 5.4.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. O'MEARA:  Mr. Tunley, the changes that occur in the deficit are basically the result of the statement of income that has already been provided.

Now, in order to break down that statement of income into what is rate base and what is not, then you start getting into a whole cost of allocation issue with regards to the expenses, which portion is deemed to be ancillary sales, which portion is not.

So it would be a very cumbersome undertaking to do that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, I understand, but there must, at the end of the day, be a portion of the 5.949 million-dollar equity number from the financial statements in 2011, which is real equity that is attributable to rate base, or underpins the rate base, as Ms. McShane put it.

Do we know what that number is?

MS. McSHANE:  I don't believe so, because there is only one corporate financial statement.  So there is equity, and the equity underpins the operations of the company.

MR. TUNLEY:  You see my concern, though, is that the equity, as we're calling it, in this company, in a period where it is making most of its money from rates set by this Board, has increased or is scheduled to increase over a four-year period by about two and a half -- two... well, let's be exact about it.

It has gone from the 4.2 to the 5.9, so that is $1.7 million.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Tunley, perhaps -- I am trying to be of assistance here and I hope I am.

Would the number be –- well, whatever number was used to determine what revenue requirement was actually being sought?  What portion of that equity is attributed to rate base to determine what revenue requirement in 2011 is required to cover the cost from ratepayers?

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  That sounds like the right question.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. McSHANE:  So we think we can provide that number as an undertaking, but we just want clarification of exactly what it is that you would like to have.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think it is exactly as Mr. Quesnelle put it.  That is to say:  What portion of the equity shown on Exhibit A3, tab 1, schedule 6, page 2 for the base year of 2011 -- that's the number 5.949813 -- what portion of that overall equity is being claimed in the application as attributable to rate base on which a return is sought?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do we have an undertaking for that, Mr. Millar?

MS. McSHANE:  The way I just understood your question, I mean, you want to know if the rate base in 2011 is forecast at -- I've forgotten the exact number, but let's say it is $13 million, and the proposed equity ratio is 42 percent, why isn't the answer just 42 percent times the rate base?

MR. TUNLEY:  If you are going to tell me, by way of answer to the undertaking, that it is a deemed number at the end of the day and that there isn't any objective way to determine how much of this 5.949 is real equity attributable to the rate base items and how much is not, that is the answer.

But if there is an objective -- in the Board's decision, at least in 2006, there seemed to be a difference, a coincidence of the deemed and the actual amount, but at least they could determine what the actual amount was.

That's what I'm looking for.

MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  So let me see if I understand this, then.  So what...

If we start with the proposition that in 2007 we had an approved rate base and the Board approved an equity ratio that was close to actual --

MR. TUNLEY:  Apparently.

MS. McSHANE:  Apparently.  I mean, that's what the decision says.  So we could figure out how much equity had to have underpinned the 2007 rate base.

MR. TUNLEY:  I thought we did that and you suggested it would be about 4.1 million?

MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  So then we have an increase in rate base over time.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  And we have an increase in equity.

MR. TUNLEY:  Claimed increase?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry?

MR. TUNLEY:  A claimed increase.  I understand the number that is claimed in the application may be subject to adjustment, based on Mr. Stoll's approach and others, but, yes, there is a number.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, I think I am still a little confused.

So we get to 2011 and we would have built up equity over time.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, there is a proposal to do that in the exhibit I have been referring to you, A3, tab 1, schedule 6.  That is quantified, as I understand it.

MS. McSHANE:  Right.  That is the --

MR. TUNLEY:  That is the 5.949813 number.

MS. McSHANE:  Right.  That is the projected total equity in Natural Resource Gas Limited at the end of 2011.

MR. TUNLEY:  That's right.  And you have pointed out to me that only a portion of that is attributable to the -- or underpinned by the rate base?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. TUNLEY:  So I am asking, What portion?  And, essentially, Ms. McShane, it is -- in 2006 as I read the Board's reasons, this Board was able to compare what was requested with an actual number, and thereby satisfied itself.

I am just asking that we have that actual number today to do the same thing.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Tunley, I don't mean to interrupt.  If I could attempt to assist, I think this may have been addressed, at least to some extent, in the technical conference, and I will only add this if it is helpful.  But if the people have the transcript, I believe at page 54 there is a similar discussion on this issue.  And it is lines 11 to 25, if that is even more helpful, where there is a discussion of a 69 percent debt and 31 percent equity ratio.

So I throw that out only if it is helpful.  If that is not exactly the point you were after, I will leave it at that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Can you just give me the page number for that again?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  Page 54, lines 11 through 20.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that is in terms of ratios or percentage ratios, and is the suggestion that I can apply those ratios to the rate base and I will -- the resulting number is the actual?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I only raise that because it seemed to me that that was the question that had been asked at the technical conference, and I may be mistaken that it is not exactly what you were after.  I think it was in fact Ms. Litt who gave that answer and who is not here today, so...

MR. TUNLEY:  No, I understand.  Maybe, because I think we have probably spent enough time on this, I would propose if I may ask for the undertaking, and, if this is the way to get to the answer, it is a simple one, and if there is more work that needs to be done, then I don't think it is fair to ask the witness to do it in the witness box.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one additional observation is that if the portion of equity that is not attributable to rate base is attributable to the ancillary services, is it possible more easily to extract the ancillary services component?

MR. COWAN:  It may be.  We will check with Elenchus.  That was our first thought --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is the variable; right?

MR. COWAN:  -- ten minutes ago, but, unfortunately, Mr. Todd has departed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I noticed that.  I just put that out as another possible approach.

MR. COWAN:  We will investigate both alternative methods.

MR. TUNLEY:  I will accept an answer in any form.

[Laughter]

MR. COWAN:  You won't be getting it from me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think it is important that we be satisfied we've got the question down, as well, for the undertaking.  If someone wants to perhaps -- as you understand the question, if we could paraphrase that back and we will capture that as the undertaking?

MS. McSHANE:  One thing that occurred to me when we were having this discussion, we were talking about the actual equity ratio in 2007 or for the 2007 test year, and what we were talking about was taking the rate base amount and multiplying it times the 41-1/2 percent equity ratio that the Board found was actual.

But that doesn't mean that the actual amount of equity in Natural Resource Gas Limited was rate base times 
41-1/2 percent equity.

MR. TUNLEY:  No, I understand the difference.  That is a deemed number, and that is why I understood Mr. Millar's contribution to be helpful, because he's saying that the actual has been identified at more like 37 percent.  That's...

MR. QUESNELLE:  We are looking for that delta between the deemed and actual.

MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  So we will undertake to assist you on that issue.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that we are clear from an argument point of view, as I understood the proposition that you were leading to, Mr. Tunley, was the idea that equity had been accumulating over this period from 2007 to the projection in 2011.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is the proposition that you were trying to put to the witness.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And in preparation for argument, presumably?

MR. TUNLEY:  And I think that it is also, just so that everyone understands the scope of it, it is projected that the equity will continue to increase during the period after 2011.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So in fulfilling the undertaking, you may want to be guided by that direction.  Whether it is accurate or inaccurate, at this stage we don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking will be J3.1, and are we satisfied that we have a common understanding of what that undertaking is for?
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1: TO ADVISE WHAT PORTION OF ACTUAL OVERALL EQUITY IS CLAIMED IN APPLICATION AS ATTRIBUTABLE TO RATE BASE ON WHICH A RETURN IS SOUGHT, AND THE DELTA BETWEEN DEEMED AND ACTUAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO RATE BASE IN THE 2011 TEST YEAR

MR. TUNLEY:  I am satisfied that I understand what has been discussed, and there is three ways to answer it that have been discussed.

I think putting the question again won't be helpful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's stop while we're ahead.  I think we have enough discussion.  It seems that we have an understanding of the thrust and the scope.  I think you have described it, as well, what you are after, Mr. Tunley, so we will leave it at that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

I just want to go very briefly, in light of your comments, Mr. Cowan, back to the retractable feature of the shares.


We did have evidence in the 2008 Union application from NRG's own auditors about the GAAP, generally accepted accounting principles, treatment of the retractable shares.

MR. COWAN:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are aware that the auditor's opinion and the opinion of the auditing association that sets generally accepted accounting principles is that retractable shares are not equity.  You are aware of that evidence?

MR. COWAN:  I am not sure I would agree with that.

MR. TUNLEY:  They are to be presented in the financial statements as debt, and that is the effect of the note in the financial statements of NRG that are before us; right?

MR. COWAN:  No.  Then it is up to the reader of the statement to interpret what it is.

MR. TUNLEY:  But the rationale for that, as we heard the evidence in the Union application, was that if retracted, they become debt.  And they can be retracted at any time without notice.  So that for purposes of public disclosure, the reader should consider them as if they were debt, in terms of the risk associated with them.

That is as I understand the evidence.

MR. COWAN:  Well, I am not going to comment on the evidence.  I am just saying that it is up to the reader to interpret it.

MR. TUNLEY:  And as I understand the evidence, as well, there are security arrangements in place between NRG and its shareholder in respect of shareholder loans, so that as soon as retraction occurs, it is not only debt, it is secured debt.

Are you aware of that, as well?

MR. COWAN:  Sorry?  The only thing that we're aware of is that the retraction feature was postponed to Union and to the bank.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But the reason Union wanted it postponed was because it didn't want to have a secured debt ahead of its own --


MR. COWAN:  My understanding of what Union wanted was they didn't want a postponement, although one had been offered, and then the Ontario Energy Board said that a postponement would be appropriate.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  They wanted more than just a postponement.  But the effect of the postponement that this Board granted was to protect Union against the possibility of retraction, and the result of the share equity becoming secured debt.

MR. COWAN:  I gather that was the intention.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree that ordinary creditors, even today, have no such protection?

MR. COWAN:  I am not going to opine on that matter, Mr. Tunley.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So local suppliers in the Town of Aylmer and gas customers of NRG who have security deposits, they don't have any postponement in their favour, do they?

MR. COWAN:  They do not, nor has there ever been one example in the history of NRG that anybody has not been paid a legitimate account.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Just dealing with NRG's capital structure, there have been changes to NRG's debt structure since 2006, as well; correct?

MR. COWAN:  Well, there's been a new financing arranged and completed with the Bank of Nova Scotia.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And that is in connection with assuming the $4.7 million IGPC plant pipeline?

MR. COWAN:  It was for the general financing needs of the utility.

MR. TUNLEY:  Including that particular --


MR. COWAN:  Including that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you have indicated in your evidence at Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1 in volume 3 -- if you want to look it up -- but I will just read you.  You said that since then:

"Since the IGPC plant transactions, principal repayments have reduced the company's total long-term debt by about $1.2 million."

MR. COWAN:  I take it that is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So in addition to retaining earnings in the company on the share equity side, you have been paying down debt on the debt side of your capital structure in the period since the previous Board's decision with respect to capital, right?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And as I understand it, further reductions through to the 2011 test year balance sheet that you have provided, that I have referred you to, of 2.9 million will occur between now and 2009 –- sorry, 2011?

MS. O'MEARA:  Reduction of long-term debt is what you're referring to?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  Principal and interest payments will be made.  And I just want to clarify, what shows up on the earnings side of things and has the effect on the retained earnings is the interest portion that is paid on that long-term debt.

MR. TUNLEY:  I presume if you are paying off principal, you are reducing the interest payment?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  But the principal portion that affects the balance sheet and the interest portion is the income statement.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.  So are you saying that the 2.9 million is both interest and principal?

MS. O'MEARA:  Where are you getting -- you're getting the 2.9 is just a reduction in the balance sheet?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MS. O'MEARA:  Then that is just the principal.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So that is how I calculate this for purposes of argument; I would compare the balance sheets from 2008/2009 to your projected 2011?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.  That would be your principal payments.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

And is there any breakdown in the evidence of these principal and interest payments that are being made on the long-term debt leading to your 2011 test year?

MS. O'MEARA:  I believe so.  I would have to check to see where they are, but... which exhibits?

MR. TUNLEY:  I am probably the only person in the room that doesn't know where to find them, but if you could check --


MS. O'MEARA:  Well, I don't either, but...

MR. TUNLEY:  Then I will accept the undertaking to identify where they are.

MS. O'MEARA:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will just catalogue that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  to PROVIDE BREAKDOWN IN THE EVIDENCE OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST PAYMENTS BEING MADE ON LONG-TERM DEBT LEADING TO 2011 TEST YEAR.

MR. TUNLEY:  There have been repayments, then, of other debts I would just like to highlight.

Going back to the Exhibit A3, tab 1, schedule 1 -- this is your September 30, 2009 statements -- if you look at page 3, this is the balance sheet, again.

And under "liabilities and shareholders' equity, current liabilities," the second-last item is:  "Due to related company," with a reference to note 6.

Do you see that?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  It appears there was a loan due to a related company of $795,000 in 2008, which is fully paid off by 2009?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  Yes, it appears so.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that is in addition to your repayments of your long-term debt, there have been repayments to related companies?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. O'MEARA:  If you want to get -- I would just like to point out on page 6, you have an actual statement of cash flows, and that breaks down the cash payments that have been received and made during the year.

Because I think what you are referring to --


MR. TUNLEY:  Will principal payments show up in this?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, they would.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So I will find them in here somewhere?  Thank you.  That is helpful.

So this balance sheet that we were looking at is between 2008/2009, and, as I read it -- sorry, I am back at page 3.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  As I read it, the balance sheet showed total debt of 13 million, roughly?

MS. O'MEARA:  Roughly, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  In 2009?

MS. O'MEARA:  Total current liabilities, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  If we go back to schedule 6, which is your 2011 projection, the total liabilities are down to, or projected to be down -- how do you read that?

MS. O'MEARA:  It would be the 2.3 million plus the 9.6.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So we are down from 13 million to roughly 11.89?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And just in terms of retaining earnings to affect its equity and at the same time paying down principal, that is all based on the income that the company has from its ancillary services and from the rates already approved by this Board?  That is where the money is coming from, right?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, it would also come from other cash flows.  If, for example, you have cash flow from depreciation, I mean, you can use cash flow from depreciation to pay down debt.  It is not earnings, but...

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  It is cash flow available.  So if, for example --


MR. TUNLEY:  Would all of those be shown in the schedule at page 6, which you referred me to earlier?  Is that where the cash flows would be seen?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I will --


MS. O'MEARA:  It starts with your earnings for the year, and it will take into account.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And I just want to understand, then, in that context, that in addition to those changes in the capital structure leading up to your test year, I understand there is this guaranteed investment certificate of $2.75 million?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's part of the balance sheet, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Okay.

And I understand that NRG has been required to post that, in effect, not -- the form hasn't been prescribed, but that is the manner in which NRG has chosen to meet requirements of its bankers with respect to, in effect, debt-equity ratios?

MR. COWAN:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in Ms. McShane's evidence, I saw there was reference to three different ratios that the bank has required NRG to meet, and this is the way you have chosen to do it?

MR. COWAN:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  And it is a variable during the year as to the need.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do I understand -- just to understand the mechanism, I understand that what this requires is that you borrow the $2.75 million from the bank; is that right?

MR. COWAN:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And then you lend it back to them by purchasing a GIC or some similar security?

MR. COWAN:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so you are not getting the benefit of the money?

MR. COWAN:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And it does, though, factor in to your debt-equity picture, your ratios that we're going to be dealing with; right?

MR. COWAN:  It factors into the ratios and it preserves our relationship with our banker.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But as I understand it, the reason your banker requires it is that they are not satisfied that there's sufficient equity in the company, apart from posting this kind of a feature, to support the debt that you are currently carrying?

MR. COWAN:  I don't believe that the banker has ever suggested that to us.

MR. TUNLEY:  Isn't that the implication of requiring you to meet these ratios, and isn't this the means you have chosen to do that?

MR. COWAN:  It is the means we have chosen to meet our obligations to the bank, but I don't accept that there is an implication.  This is an entirely usual type of requirement for banks to make.  It is not unusual at all.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, it is the first time I am seeing it, so you will forgive me if I may ask some more questions about how it works.

MR. COWAN:  All right.

MR. TUNLEY:  So we have agreed that this $2.75 million affects your debt.  It increases the amount of debt that you have; correct?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Does it affect your equity side of the equation in any way?

MR. COWAN:  I am not an accountant, but I think not.  I don't...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps we can ask Ms. O'Meara.

MS. O'MEARA:  No, it doesn't.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you will agree NRG's ratepayers don't get any benefit from this arrangement either, do they?

MR. COWAN:  Well, they have the benefit of a solid banking arrangement between NRG and its bankers.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And an equity investment of $2.75 million at this moment in time would have precisely the same effect, as far as your bankers are concerned; don't you agree?

MR. COWAN:  I would have to think about it, but I would suppose so.

MR. TUNLEY:  And all I am saying is that this arrangement doesn't have any particular benefit for ratepayers?

MR. COWAN:  As I said, it preserves a banking arrangement that is necessary and desirable from the standpoint of all ratepayers.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, in fairness, it is the way NRG has chosen to do that?

MR. COWAN:  It's the cumulative -- it is the result of NRG's desire to keep updating its asset base and also to provide the pipeline that you referred to earlier.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, all right.

In terms of the impacts, the direct impacts on ratepayers, though, you will agree that what it does mean is that they have to pay for additional loan costs on $2.75 million long-term debt, so roughly at 6 percent; is that fair?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that is about $160,000 a year that is attributable to that feature.

And I understand that what they get on that arrangement is essentially a GIC rate of return on the money that is reinvested at about less than 1 percent; is that right?

MR. COWAN:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree with me no other gas or electrical LDC in Ontario has been required by its bankers to enter into an arrangement of this nature?

MR. COWAN:  I know nothing of the sort.

MR. TUNLEY:  You don't know anything?  You're saying you don't know, or...

MR. COWAN:  I'm saying I don't know.  I can't answer the question.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you will agree with me it does increase the amount of the long-term debt of the company, and it's part of what contributes to NRG's desire to pay down the principal amount of these loans as quickly as it can at this point in time?

MR. COWAN:  I'm not -- I don't know why you keep telling me that I agree with you when I don't.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Tell me why you disagree with that.

MR. COWAN:  Well, I think that it is prudent business and good planning to reduce debt when and where you can.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  A ratepayer might say to you, I would like to keep that money and reduce my mortgage rather than give the money to NRG to reduce your mortgage.  But you take the position that this Board should set a rate which requires ratepayers to repay your mortgage.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there a question coming on that, Mr. Tunley?

MR. KING:  Are you arguing now?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm asking that question, Mr. King.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think it is argument.  I will leave it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. TUNLEY:  Can we just deal briefly with customer deposits?  As I understand the history - and you can correct me - the 2006 level of customer deposits was $138,590, based on your financial statements?

MS. O'MEARA:  The 2006 was $280,974.  Is that what you're referring to?

MR. TUNLEY:  I apologize.  Let me just look.

You're looking at the financial statements.  What page are you on?

MS. O'MEARA:  Page 3.

MR. TUNLEY:  I'm sorry.  Yes, you are correct, $280,974.  And that went to a high in 2008 of $739,483?

MS. O'MEARA:  In 2007, did you say?

MR. TUNLEY:  I said 2008.

MS. O'MEARA:  2008, $757,065?

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then it fell to -- the test year amount, 2011, is projected to be $329,000?

MS. O'MEARA:  If that is what it says on the statements, yes, and I think that might have been revised at a later date to an even lesser amount --

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. O'MEARA:  -- in this.

MR. TUNLEY:  It does appear actually in the schedule to have come down to 250,000.  Is that what you are remembering?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So is there any mechanism that NRG is proposing to ensure that this kind of fluctuation in customer deposits won't be occurring in the coming rate period?

MS. O'MEARA:  Well, I think there was a change to the security deposit policy, and by putting that in place, it resulted in a larger amount of security deposits that had to be refunded.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. O'MEARA:  So now that that is in place, no, I do not expect this to fluctuate up and down like that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.

As the parties recognize, we will be breaking at about 10:25 so we have another ten minutes.

So I don't know if we have an agreed-to order as to who is going next, Mr. Buonaguro.  So whenever you can accommodate that, that would be appreciated.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Good morning, panel.  First, maybe I should mark an exhibit.  I distributed this by e-mail yesterday.  Do I have all of the copies?  Okay.

[Mr. Buonaguro passes out exhibit]

MR. BUONAGURO:  I suspect the only person on the witness panel that may need a copy would be Ms. McShane.  Do you have a copy or no?

MS. McSHANE:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we will call this Exhibit K3.2.  It is a decision of the Public Utilities Board of the Northwest Territories, decision 13-2007.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2 :  DECISION 13-2007 OF PUBLIC UTILITIES BOARD OF THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Just while I am introducing the exhibit, this is a decision of the Public Utilities Board of the Northwest Territories that Ms. McShane referred to in a report that is part of the evidence.  I think it is referred to at page 14 of her report.

So, I thought we might end up in a conversation at some point that may refer to this decision, so I thought it might be useful to have the relevant section available on the record, in case somebody wanted to read it.  I am not sure we are actually going to cite it, but it is available.

I just want to start -- actually, maybe I will start going back to the main evidence.

This is Exhibit E8, tab 1, schedule 2, updated.  That is what I am looking at.

Okay.  The panel has that?  Thank you.

Largely I just wanted to make sure, based on what I have just heard and based on some of my confusion in reading this evidence, that I understand exactly what is going on here.

I thought this would be the best place to look at it, because it is my understanding that if we look at this page under test 2011, this essentially summarizes the cost of capital structure and debt rates and ROE that the company is looking for.

Am I correct in that assumption?

MS. McSHANE:  So what is on this page is the values for the bridge year, 2010, at the top, and then the requested percentages and cost rates in the bottom half of the schedule.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for example, we see in this table the 10.35 percent return-on-equity that the company is asking for; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We see the 42 percent deemed common equity structure that the company is asking for?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess -- this is sort of why I am going into why I am actually asking.  I want to confirm I understand how the whole thing hangs together or operates.

As a result of the request for deemed equity structure of 42 percent, we are also looking at a deemed debt rate of 58 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then to the extent that the actual debt differs from the deemed debt, we have a line there called "unfunded debt" to account for that change, or that difference?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that is what we -- the term of art called:  "The plug."

MR. BUONAGURO:  You said it first, not me, but I was going to say the same thing.

That is actually a notional amount; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So this -- in a lot of ways what you are asking for -- or what the company is asking for, more appropriately -- doesn't necessarily reflect the actual projection for 2011, which is, I think, part of what we have been talking about today so far; is that correct?

MS. McSHANE:  That's right.  If you look at the unfunded amounted, I mean, there is some difference between what would be the actual calculated using net debt and the deemed that is being proposed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Well, actually my understanding -- I mean if you go a couple of pages later, there is more detail on the debt.

So for example, when we look at the line "long-term debt, $9,980,196," that is an actual average --

MS. McSHANE:  Gross amount of debt, right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For that year?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you go to the bank, they're going to say, yes, that's how much they owe us for 2011?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, but they would also say we have this compensating balance that we --

MR. BUONAGURO:  We will get to that.  I am going line by line.

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we can go there now.

The compensating balance, you actually owe 275,000 -- 2,751,130 to the bank in the form of a GIC; correct -– or, sorry, they owe you that money?

MR. COWAN:  We have purchased the investment from them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. COWAN:  It is NRG's asset.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It is an actual amount.  That is the point I was trying to make.

MR. COWAN:  It's not -- it's not a myth.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.

And then as we have discussed, the $741,798 unfunded debt is a calculation based on the parts around it.  It is a notional amount; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then we get to the common equity part, and I think this is where we spent a lot of time already this morning.

The 5,719,867 is essentially a deemed amount?  It is not underpinned by any actuals?  You can't look at something and say that is an actual amount somewhere in the filing; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  I believe that is right.  It is deemed at 42 percent, right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding, from what's gone on before me in this particular panel, is that you can't give me that number, the actual number for 2011 as of -- at least not this second; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  The actual dollar amount of equity attributable solely to rate base?  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if the Board were -- and I guess the question was put to you.  In the last rate case, the Board said:  This is the actual equity, and it is .5 percent off from what the -- the deemed amount at 42 percent.  So we will give you 42 percent.

The Board can't do that right now, because they don't have the actual amount?

MS. McSHANE:  I believe it is the same issue.

When the Board looked at the capital structure, the actual capital structure back in the 2007 rates case, they were looking at a forecast capital structure for the entire company, from which they would have calculated ratios, and those ratios would have shown 41.5 percent common equity underpinning Natural Resource Gas Limited.

Those ratios, in turn, were used closely -- they went from the 41.5 to 42 -- to set the capital structure attributable specifically to the rate base.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that different than what Mr. Tunley has asked you to do?

MS. McSHANE:  I don't believe --

MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of determining what the actual equity is?

MS. McSHANE:  I don't think it is different.  That is the point I was trying to make before we ended our conversation about what the undertaking consisted of, that the starting point in -- for 2007 is not simply equity attributable to rate base.  It is equity attributable to the entire corporation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

It is 25 past.  Shall I stop now?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, if it is convenient.  If you are in the middle of something, go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to get into more detail on the GIC.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's break until 11:00 o'clock.  And thank you, everyone, for accommodating this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will return at 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:24 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:09 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Okay.  If nothing else has come up, Mr. Buonaguro.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So still just briefly with the table that we were looking at, obviously we see the commencing balance of $2,751,130, and Mr. Tunley took you through some of this and I just want to get some more details.

You recall that on the first day of the hearing, I asked an interrogatory about the GIC, and the first part of the interrogatory was to provide any documents between the bank and NRG actually requiring that investment.

I believe the answer at that point was, We don't actually have anything like that.  Could you expound on that?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is to say at various times through the evidence and testimony, I think is fair to say there is an impression that at least I am getting is that the bank is actually requiring that particular type of investment in order to meet the three covenants, and I don't think that is true.

I want to make sure that is not true.  It is actually the three covenants that the bank is imposing and that the GIC just happens to be the way that you are dealing with them.

MR. COWAN:  It is a mutually agreeable way of meeting the obligations imposed by the bank.  That is to say the bank is quite happy with the existence of the GIC, and now that it is in existence and -- in existence, we don't see that there is going to be any change in their satisfaction with it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Maybe --

MR. COWAN:  And the logical conclusion reached from that is, if the bank is happy with the current situation, then you are in a bit of a difficult spot.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me try it this way.  I am looking at -- I don't have the actual cite here.  It is Ms. McShane.  It is one place I think in the evidence where the covenants are described.  This is Ms. McShane's report, and it is at page 4.

I can read it, and if you want the actual cite, I can get it for you.  It is Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1.  Page 4 of that evidence.  Again, I am not referring it to you because it is Ms. McShane's evidence, but, rather, because she summarizes the covenants in that evidence as a simple place to find it.

On that page, the description is this:
"As conditions of the term notes payable financing, NRG is required to maintain:  1) a ratio of Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization to Interest plus the current portion of long-term debt of 1.25 times or higher; 2) a ratio of current assets to current liabilities (excluding the current portion of long-term debt) of 1:1 or better; and 3) a ratio of total debt to tangible net worth of less than 3:1.  To ensure maintenance of these requirements, NRG purchased a $2.75 million Guarantee Investment Certificate (GIC) which it maintains as compensating balance."


So I am talking, in legal terms, what is the contractual obligation of NRG to the bank with respect to these loans.

My understanding is that the contractual obligation to the bank is to meet these three requirements that I have just outlined from the evidence.

MR. COWAN:  I would agree with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there is no contractual obligation to do so by obtaining a GIC and leaving it in the bank, at that particular bank?

MR. COWAN:  There may not be a contractual obligation, but there is an understanding with the bank that the GIC will remain in place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So what would happen -- let's play hypothetical, then.  What would happen if, on the maturity, the GIC is withdrawn from that bank and put in another bank?

MR. COWAN:  Well, I can't answer that, because I don't know what would be in the mind of the bank.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But what I am trying to get at is that they have no contractual authority to dictate the terms on which you meet the covenants, do they?

MR. COWAN:  NRG does not propose to get into a conflicted situation with its bank.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  When I asked this undertaking

-- actually let me skip that for a second.

Can I take you to IGPC No. 60, Interrogatory Response No. 60?  And you were asked about -- I think several questions, I think it is fair to say, about the GIC.  The response was:
"At the time of our next annual review with the Bank we will endeavour to have the Bank drop the requirement for" --

The offsetting GIC.  I have glossed over -- I think there is a typo --

MR. COWAN:  I have read it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  "It is our opinion that this is the
appropriate time to submit this request in that we will have demonstrated two years of successful operation of the ethanol pipeline.  Our impression is from previous discussions that it would be difficult to persuade the Bank to allow the GIC to be applied from (sic) the loan balance."


So I am getting from that, I think, the mistaken impression that the GIC investment is a very specific condition, but I don't think that is the case, as we have discussed; is that correct?

MR. COWAN:  No.  That's not correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  It is an understanding, as I said earlier.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  Now, I don't know what your experience is with dealing with bankers, but sometimes understandings are transported into specifics.

The bank is comfortable with this arrangement, and our perception of the marketplace at this time is that it would be very difficult to replace this financing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What do you mean by "replace this financing"?

MR. COWAN:  Get another bank.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For all of your debt or for just the GIC?

MR. COWAN:  That would be the result of having them irritated.  This is a demand loan, in effect.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  When you say, in this interrogatory response, you endeavour to have the bank drop the requirement --

MR. COWAN:  We will do so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  But I am trying to be a little more specific.  Is it the requirement that the GIC be left with this particular bank in that particular amount, or is it the requirement that you meet the three covenants, because the three covenants is the actual contractual obligation that you are --

MR. COWAN:  The three covenants are the overriding obligation.  This is a method of meeting that obligation.  There may be variance of that method available that we can discuss with the bank, and we will do so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It says at the beginning of the IR response, "the next annual review".  When would that be?

MR. COWAN:  Between now and next March, I gather.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the relationship between the GIC and the three covenants that I have put on the record, I would like to have a bit of an understanding of how having that GIC actually meets those three covenants.  Is there someone on the panel who can help me with that?

MR. COWAN:  Perhaps Ms. O'Meara can comment.

MS. O'MEARA:  The current asset ratio requires a certain ratio of current assets to current liabilities.  And as it stands, a portion of that GIC is required in order to maintain that ratio.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So perhaps we can go back to E8, tab 1, schedule 2, updated, which is the first exhibit I was using, okay?  So I want to understand how that operates using this table, if I can.  If it is the wrong exhibit, I apologize.  But when you say current assets and current liabilities, can we use this table to demonstrate that?

So, for example, current assets would be the total rate base of 13,618,731?

MS. O'MEARA:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you mean perhaps --

MS. O'MEARA:  No.  Your current assets would be on the balance sheet.  You would have --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I am being pointed to Exhibit A3, tab 1, schedule 5, page 1 of 5.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  Your current assets on this schedule would be the 4.2 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And what is the other part of the equation that we are trying to maintain?  Where would I find that?

MS. O'MEARA:  The current liabilities.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which would be 2.5 million?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On the next page?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain how the GIC enters into maintaining a ratio between those two numbers?

MS. O'MEARA:  As of this date, with this projection, for that ratio it has to be greater than 1.1.

So you would have to have at least 2 million-554 included in the current assets.

I would have to check.  I am not exactly sure for the bank purposes if the PGCVA, PGTVA, GPRA and REDA are included.  I would have to go back to the formula they require, if that is included as current assets or not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yeah, this is done every quarter.  So it changes, it fluctuates depending on the time of year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So looking at this, current assets, the short-term investment of 750, that's the GIC; am I correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You used that to bump the final number up to 4.2 million?

MS. O'MEARA:  On the schedule, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And it looks to me like the reason this works is because even though you went an extra 2.575 million in debt and long-term debt, that is not part of the equation that you are trying to maintain on the debt side?

So for example, you register the inclusion of $2.75 million in short-term investment here, and that helps you maintain a ratio, because the corresponding loan to get the $2.75 million isn't recorded in the current liabilities; it is recorded in the long-term debt?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.  It is recorded in the long-term debt, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that is, I think, one of the three tests.

Does it have an effect --

MS. O'MEARA:  That is one of three, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Does it have an effect on the other two tests?  Is it required to meet any of the other two tests?

MS. O'MEARA:  The one, the other one is the debt-to-equity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Correct.

MS. O'MEARA:  And in that one, we take the total debt.  It does not come into bearing on that calculation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think maybe it has a small effect based on the value of the denominator, but it doesn't actually maintain the ratio.  The ratio would exist.  You would meet the required ratio whether or not you had this investment, because it is on both sides of the equation?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The other one is the -- I think it is the EBIT requirement?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does it have an effect on that?

MS. O'MEARA:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So basically it is to match these, this ratio here we just went through?  That is the real reason for the GIC?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And the specific effect is that it gives you an asset to bump up the asset value?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Now, you were -- in asking Ms. McShane to comment on the inclusion of the compensating balance, or the appropriateness, I guess more specifically, of the balance -- and I guess I am directing to this Ms. McShane -- you likened it to a sinking fund.  Is that fair?

MS. McSHANE:  For purposes of calculating capital structure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And you referred to some jurisdictions where they allow sinking fund investments to form part of the cost of capital, and specifically the Northwest Territories decision that I included?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  They're an offset to the outstanding amount of principal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

Now, I think maybe you will agree with me one of the obvious differences -- specific to the Northwest Territories, because that is the one I have actually read 
-- in the Northwest Territories decision, the actual covenant with the actual debt-holders, I guess the bank, was -- included the requirement for a sinking fund and payments into the sinking fund over time, with a specific purpose of paying out the -- paying the debt off over time using the sinking fund.  Is that fair?

MS. McSHANE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think the evidence from the company here is that isn't the purpose of the GIC.  Would you agree with that?

MS. McSHANE:  You mean it is not the purpose to have the funds available to pay off the -- that's right.  That is different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

And another difference between the two, the GIC fund in this case, and certainly the Northwest Territories case, is that there was an expectation there was at least a possibility that the return on the sinking fund would be -- I don't know what the right word is -- significant.  At least in the Decision, the Board forecast a return on the fund of six percent; is that...

It is in the Decision, actually.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  No.  I did read it on my BlackBerry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And were you there?


MS. McSHANE:  And I was there.  Because these were long-term debt issues to which the sinking fund applied, then the actual investments were also long-term, except for the -- you probably remember the discussion about the immunization, where, you know, part of the -- part of -- or one of the issues that had a sinking fund attached to it was coming due.

So they would have had a relatively short-term investment associated with that, to make sure that the full amount was available.

But the reason for the higher return was because the sinking fund investments were longer-term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think there is actually a discussion of at least a possibility that at certain times over the course of the debt and the sinking fund that came along with the debt, that the return could actually -- on the sinking fund, could actually exceed the debt rate on debt.  So that there would actually be a surplus, I guess you would call it, as a result of the sinking fund.  At least a possibility?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, because I think, my recollection is that the returns were a function of what was bought and sold every year.  So when -- do we want to -- can we look at this document that's...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. McSHANE:  I don't know --

MR. BUONAGURO:  It justifies my having put it on the record.

MS. McSHANE:  So on page 24 of the Decision, where they're talking about the average sinking fund earnings from year to year from 2003 to 2008, you will notice, for example, that in 2006, I mean, it is a huge number there, 9.72 percent, compared to the next year's, which was 3.97 percent.

So that 2006 number would have reflected the fact that they would have sold securities during that year at a capital gain.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I would just ask -- and this is for Ms. McShane -- on capital structure, going to your evidence at page 10 and just reading from the question, the question was:

"In approving an equity ratio of 42 percent for NRG in EB-2005-0544, the Board commented that the actual equity ratio should be used unless the actual ratio is unreasonable, and that the actual ratio at the time was 41.5 percent, close to the approved ratio.  Has NRG's capital structure changed since that decision?"

So obviously you have answered the question in your evidence.

The question there was:

"Has NRG's capital structure changed since that decision?"

My question is a simpler one.  Do you, in general, disagree with the proposition before that question, which was the actual equity ratio should be used unless the actual ratio was unreasonable?

MS. McSHANE:  No, I don't disagree with that proposition, except you do have to recall that there is a relationship between capital structure and return on equity.

So if you are going to use the actual capital structure, then you have to make sure that the ROE that is approved in conjunction with that reflects the level of financial risk that is inherent in that capital structure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I understand what you are saying, but --

MS. McSHANE:  I mean, if I put it simply, the lower the common equity ratio for a given level of business risk, the higher the ROE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me see if I can parse that, which we are -- we lawyers are prone to do.

It sounds like you agree with the basic principle, but would you suggest or submit or propose that there is a corresponding effect on what the appropriate ROE is?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that's right.  So, actually, if you look at the -- at my evidence, and the section starts on page 31, where there is a discussion of the relationship between capital structure and ROE, and dealing with the potential that the Board may want to reflect all differences in business risk as among utilities in capital structure, rather than ROE.

So there is a discussion there of how the capital structure approved would need to change from the proposed 42 percent in order to make the ROE discussed in the Board's cost-of-capital report applicable to NRG without an incremental risk premium.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you characterize -- well, I think it is clear on your evidence that you are proposing a deemed capital structure as opposed to a capital structure that is strictly related to the actual; is that fair?

MS. McSHANE:  That was my recommendation, given particularly that there was expected to be a fair amount of evolution in the capital structure over the next five years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So it was based, in part, on trying to provide a capital structure that would capture a five-year period; is that...

MS. McSHANE:  Well, I mean, it was partly that.  So the Board said last time that the 42 percent common equity ratio was appropriate, with a benchmark utility ROE plus 50 basis points; went back and looked at what was expected to happen with the capital structure over five years.

Clearly, the capital structure over five years would have 42 or more percent equity in it, depending on how you measure the capital structure, no change of any significance in business risk.  So, yes, I mean, the deemed capital structure with 42 percent equity was viewed as reasonable by me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So would you do something different on a one-year basis?  Would your evidence have been geared towards a one-year capital structure?

MS. McSHANE:  It might have been, but also there would have been a difference then in ROE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. McSHANE:  Potentially.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And just back briefly to the GIC question, the GIC issue as I call it, and going back to the possibility of the bank letting the company out of that particular requirement.

Let's say, hypothetically, that happens.  How does that work?  I can tell you what I -- on a simple view, how that would work, from my perspective, would be the money comes out of the GIC and gets applied against the long-term debt.  The long-term debt number comes down by 2.75 million, and then there is, I guess, a series of corresponding changes in your actual capital structure and debt rates, and such.

Perhaps you can tell me if that is simply or generally what would happen?

MR. COWAN:  Generally, that is what would happen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And one last question on the GIC.

When I did ask on day 1 about the GIC and the documents and so on, there was -- I think you mentioned that the company was working on the rates that were being earned by the GIC?

MR. COWAN:  Well, that is another area that we could discuss with the bank, but I can't give you any assurance that that could be dealt with, because of the variable nature of the need during the course of the year.

This type of utility don't make money in the summertime, and so the demand for or the need for the asset rises at that time.  So it's very much a matter of the historical records.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  We went through the three tests, and my understanding is that the only reason that the company really needs the GIC, or suggests to the Board it needs the GIC, is to maintain a ratio between the assets and liabilities.  That's what we went through before; correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's the only covenant that requires it, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That being the case, what is the justification for the bank charging, in your application, the forecast of 0.5 percent on it, on the GIC, and charging you six -- well, a blended rate of 6.69 percent on the debt that is used to fund the GIC, if the only reason is to meet the covenant as opposed to some other reason?

MR. COWAN:  It's very difficult to have banks justify what they require.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  The only covenant that is required is the current asset, but I think, as Mr. Cowan has mentioned, there is an underlying -- another reason as to why that balance is there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I think that was the maintaining a good relationship with the bank reason?

MS. O'MEARA:  An understanding, yes, and good relationship with the bank.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess there's a hint that there is consequences if that relationship is infringed upon?

MR. COWAN:  Well, of course.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Stoll, up next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  And if -- maybe if we can just go through a couple of hopefully really basic housecleaning items, and then into my questions.

In the undertakings -- and it is J1.2, the details on the GIC.  The first line of that shows the first GIC.  Do you have it?

MS. O'MEARA:  I recall it.  I don't have it in front of me.

MR. STOLL:  I don't know that you will need to look it up.  But the maturity date is the date listed at 1 September 2010?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  What has happened with that GIC?  Was it rolled over?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And on the same term?

MS. O'MEARA:  No.  Every time you enter into a new GIC, there will be a slightly different term.

MR. STOLL:  So is the interest rate, then, still 0.5?

MS. O'MEARA:  I would have to double-check exactly what the interest rate was at that time.

MR. STOLL:  Oh, okay.

MS. O'MEARA:  I can do an undertaking to do that.

MR. STOLL:  And we will just hold off, because there may be a second part to that.

MS. O'MEARA:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  In the third line, there is a third GIC in the amount of approximately $350,000 at 0.35 percent interest.

MS. O'MEARA:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STOLL:  It shows a maturity day of 19 Feb. 2010.  Is that a typo?

MS. O'MEARA:  I think that might be a typo.  I will take an undertaking to that.

MR. STOLL:  Can you confirm that --

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  -- or confirm what the -- what happened to that GIC?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Mr. Millar do you -- 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, J3.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO CONFIRM interest rate and MATURITY DATE FOR first and THIRD GIC CITED IN undertaking response j1.2

MR. STOLL:  Do you understand the undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think so.  As long as the witness understands.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  That is housecleaning item number one.  Actually, I will switch over here.  This just goes to one item that I had hoped to have Mr. Todd here, but -- so I may need an undertaking.  And I discussed this with Mr. King beforehand.

Could you provide the revenue-to-cost ratio for Rate 6, based on your application?  I know there has been a bunch of moving parts, just...

I don't want you to do the analysis with all the moving parts.  I just want know what the revenue-to-cost ratio was in your application for Rate 6.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, we can do an undertaking to that.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE REVENUE-TO-COST RATIO ON APPLICATION FOR RATE 6.

MR. STOLL:  And this is actually a housecleaning item, actually for you, Ms. McShane.  It is at page 4 of your report, line 103.  It talks about the second loan maturing in 2007 -- or, sorry, 2017.

And it was my understanding that this loan was to be renegotiated during the IRM period, and I just want to make sure I understand the timing.

MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  My understanding is that the second loan, the variable rate loan, is a demand loan.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  And it's... it has a due date of October 2017, as of page 16 of the September 30th, 2009 financial statements.

The loan is extended every year, but the rates -- I mean the underlying terms, if you will, are the same each year.  With the amortization schedule that is provided in the --

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So the 2017 date becomes the end date of the amortization?  It is basically a one-year loan that kind of renews every year?  Or... I am just trying to...

MR. COWAN:  Well, the security -- if I may interject, the security, as I recall, is a debenture.

MR. STOLL:  Uh-oh.  I am just trying to --

MR. COWAN:  So if you run afoul, they can call.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  And I am not trying to go about running afoul or anything like that.  I am just trying to understand what was meant by maturity date versus my understanding that there would be a renegotiation during the IRM period.

MR. COWAN:  I think it is annually negotiated with the maturity date of -- and an amortization day of 2017.

So you are right, it is an annual negotiation.  But the underlying security is more forceful.

MR. STOLL:  Yeah.  I was just trying to understand -- I am not trying to go anywhere, other than making -- I was hoping to make things a little clearer, for at least myself.

That just goes also to the one other point, page 12 of your report, and it is lines 314 and 315.

I was just trying to understand what you meant by the:  "increasing rate base between 2008 and 2009."  I thought it was -- the increase was in 2008.

MS. O'MEARA:  October 1, 2008, was it not?

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I just want to make sure I didn't miss something.

MS. McSHANE:  No, I don't think you missed anything.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Because I was just trying to understand the reference to the 2009.

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry.  So the rate base was -- let's see –-

MR. STOLL:  I guess maybe I can rephrase.  The increase in rate base when the pipeline started, in your evidence, October 1, 2008?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  So I mean the date really isn't as significant as the amount of the increase, which was really the point.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  No, that's fine.

My first few questions will be for you, Ms. McShane.

On page 19 of your report, you listed some of the factors that NRG has used to mitigate the risk of the IGPC pipeline and commitment.

And those are the long-term contract and the two letters of credit; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Yesterday we spent quite a bit of time talking about a business interruption insurance policy with respect to this.

Were you aware that NRG had taken a business interruption insurance policy with --

MS. McSHANE:  Not specifically, no, but that is fairly common.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  But would you agree that that policy would mitigate the risk to NRG in respect of --

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And so I guess where I am having a little bit of trouble understanding the evidence is that there is additional risk to NRG, in part because of my client, and we have been asked to bear the full costs of the insurance policy that mitigates against some of the risks that my client presents, and that there is an equity premium that is related, in part, to the increased risk.

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I think that is not right.  Basically, what I said is that because of these various factors, that the risk hasn't changed.

So we are not proposing any change in the risk premium due to...

MR. STOLL:  But the inclusion of the business interruption insurance is new to NRG.  It never had that before, from my understanding.  So that would tend to reduce risk?

MS. McSHANE:  But they didn't have you before, either, at all.

[Laughter.]

MS. McSHANE:  So all I'm saying is --

MR. STOLL:  It seems to me that it is almost like there is really too much of a good thing, then, with having the new revenue and the new customer, in that this is causing increased risk?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  But I think you have misunderstood what I was saying.  I didn't say there was increased risk.  I said there was essentially no change in risk.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  But that was based on factors that didn't include the fact that they had taken insurance to further mitigate their risk.

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I think it had to do with the fact that I said that because they had protection, that the risk was certainly -- you know, the idea was that the risk is no greater or no less than it was last time.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  But that was based on the factors that didn't include one of the items of protection.  That's fine.  We can move on.

The letter of credit that provides protection against the net book value of the pipeline, that is a fairly high proportion of the assets of NRG that are -- have some direct protection in the form of the letter of credit?

MS. McSHANE:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. STOLL:  And in your report, you refer quite a bit to Enbridge as a comparator.  Well, Enbridge and Union Gas; correct?

MS. McSHANE:  I did do that comparison, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  Do those utilities have, like, proportionate amounts of protection on their assets in the same way?

MS. McSHANE:  Probably not, because they don't have one client that accounts for as much of their revenues as NRG does.  So they have a lot more diversity of customer base.

They certainly would have contracts with their large customers, but they wouldn't require the amount of protection on any individual customer, given, as I said, the diversification among customers.

MR. STOLL:  You have worked with NRG for -- off and on, for a number of years, so you are fairly familiar with the history of the tobacco industry for NRG?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

Would you agree that the -- basically, the issue of risk of loss from the tobacco industry is now a certainty and basically isn't -- is a known quantity or factor for people, in the basis of the application, that everybody knows the tobacco industry is basically shrunk?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And that's been taken account in the application as the future of the tobacco industry or lack of future?

MS. McSHANE:  You mean in terms of the forecast volumes?

MR. STOLL:  Correct.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I guess -- and NRG's customer composition includes a significant agricultural component?

MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And my client, as an ethanol producer, relies upon corn as an input.  I assume we can accept that.  It is a corn-based ethanol facility.

Did you consider the potential beneficial impact that the location or the inclusion of my client in the area would have on your other ratepayers; i.e., tobacco farmers could now grow corn and they would have a ready market close by for that product so that there is a transition of the rate base -- or, sorry, of the ratepayer?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. McSHANE:  I have not seen any evidence of there being a transition of tobacco farming to corn.  I suppose it is a possibility, but it's not something that I have seen.

MR. STOLL:  Did you look for it?

MS. McSHANE:  I did look to see what the --

MR. STOLL:  -- what was going on?

MS. McSHANE:  -- what the tobacco farmers were doing, and that wasn't anything that I came across.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  When you are looking at a company's business risk, is a company's history with bad debt one of the -- an item that you consider, or a factor?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  It would be something that you would look at if you have had customers that have gone out of business and left you with unpaid bills.

MR. STOLL:  And I think from the application, the history has been pretty good for NRG in the fact their bad debt expense is fairly low.  Would you agree with that, or it might be Ms. -- I think -- I don't think anybody is concerned with the level of bad debt.  There may be another way to put it.  Certainly I haven't heard from any of the intervenors.  Would you agree with that?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And would you consider that a return on equity for the Ontario electricity industry is a good starting point for comparators or your analysis?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, did I consider it to be a good starting point?

MR. STOLL:  Or a good reference point.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Like, did you consider comparing NRG to any similar electric utilities in Ontario?

MS. McSHANE:  No, because virtually all of the electric utilities in Ontario are municipally owned.  So I am not quite sure what that information does for me in terms of figuring out whether there should be a risk premium for NRG or not.

I mean, there are only two, I guess, if I've got my numbers right, that aren't municipally owned, maybe three.

So, no, I was focussed on looking at NRG versus investor-owned gas utilities.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  That is kind of my question.

MS. McSHANE:  Can I just add something to that?  One of the things that I was looking at was, you know, what the Board had done in the last proceeding and whether anything significant, in terms of relative risk, had occurred that would cause there to be a different outcome, in terms of risk premium, than there was last time.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  I am going to ask a couple of questions on the coverage ratios.  I am not going to go through quite the detail that Mr. Buonaguro went through some of the things with.

My understanding from the evidence is that the actual ratios the company would calculate changed throughout the year?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  And I guess that is based upon -- in part, upon the rise and fall of the current liabilities.

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  And I guess part of that is -- and I may be using one of the terms you used before with NRG, which is the drafting of Union's system and just the way the cash flow and payment obligations worked?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And that's completely separate from IGPC.  Like, our revenue and expenses are basically flat-lined?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.

I am going to go -- that helps me for that issue.  I am just trying to get that straight in my head.

I am going to move to just a couple of items on cost of debt, and then... In 2006, NRG borrowed about 6.3 million at 7.52 fixed.  I think we -- that is -- everybody agrees to that.  

That's the first -- I think that this is the first loan?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's the first, yes. 

MR. STOLL:  I am not trying to confuse anybody.

Then in 2008, NRG borrowed 5.2 million, primarily but not exhaustively, for the IGPC pipeline?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.  

MR. STOLL:  And that was at the 4. variable rate loan, the prime plus 25 points?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.  

MR. STOLL:  And as part of that negotiation, there were certain coverage -- the coverage covenants agreed to in that negotiation?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And if I understand the application -- and I am just going to kind of step away from the percentages -- but basically, as part of the revenue requirement, NRG's seeking about $600,000 to cover interest on its debt?  

MS. O'MEARA:  The carrying costs are around, yes, $600,000.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And if we -- and I appreciate that with the covenants, that we can't do this right now, but if we netted-out the GICs with the debt, the -- I will use -- you would basically have an effective debt of about 7.1 million, 7.2 million.  But there is approximately nine -- 

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, that would be about right.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So if I looked at those two numbers, I would end up with an effective debt rate of approximately 9 percent; is that correct?  

MS. O'MEARA:  So what you're doing is taking the carrying cost, the actual carrying costs, and comparing it to the reduced, and coming out with the nine percent?  

MR. STOLL:  Correct. 

MS. O'MEARA:  That's -- 

MR. STOLL:  If Mr. Winstone has done my math correctly, we would get to that point?

Subject to check, you would agree?  

MS. O'MEARA:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So if NRG could have borrowed below that effective rate, but without the coverage covenants, the costs of debt would be reduced from the proposed application by NRG?

MS. O'MEARA:  So what you're saying, instead of having the 5.2 million, and they only took out a debt of 3 million less -- 

MR. STOLL:  Well, that would be -- 

MS. O'MEARA:  It would affect the carrying costs, yes.  That is a logical statement.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  And I guess... what I'm -- the interest rate was prime plus 25 points on the second loan at the 5.2.

I am wondering if there was another arrangement considered, where it would be, say, 3 million at six percent or prime plus 100 basis points.  

MS. O'MEARA:  I can't answer that.  I don't know what -- I was not involved in the negotiations of this loan.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  It is just that there seems to be a fairly large spread between the prime plus .25, plus -- to the effective rate of 9 percent.  

Okay.  So... and if you can't help me...

Just because I don't want you to feel left out, Mr. Cowan, I do have a couple of questions for you.  

It goes to your affidavit.  In paragraph 4, NRG has made -- you state -- I will just read it here.  You don't need to turn it up.  I am just trying to understand what you meant.
"NRG has made no profit to date on the $9 million-plus pipeline." (sic)

Sorry.  I just want to make sure I get it correct.
"NRG has made no profit to date on this 9 million-plus project."

Okay.  There is, I guess, two aspects of that.

It is my understanding that the project cost that you are seeking is approximately 8.6 million?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I just want to understand what you meant by "profit", and I will give -- Are you referring to money in excess of expenses, including a return on equity?  Or maybe I will just let you answer.

MR. COWAN:  Well, I would assume that would be correct.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So if I make my return on equity, just right exactly matching the return on equity that the computation would lead to, you would not consider there to be a profit?

MR. COWAN:  I don't know how to answer that.  Profit includes within it, I suppose, a return on equity.  

MR. STOLL:  And I am just seeking a little bit of clarification.  So if you can't answer further, that's fine with me.  And I think --

MR. COWAN:  I don't think I can.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I think I am just -- I am just going to make sure. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  To the extent -- I think you've asked something I think is important, Mr. Stoll. 

Is it your evidence that when you say there is no profit, did you mean over and above the deemed return?  Or have you not made your return?  

MR. COWAN:  I believe so.  

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's the case, that if you make your return, it has not been profitable?  It has met its expectations, but no extra?

MR. COWAN:  I believe that is correct, yes.  

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I think there is just one other thing I want to clear up.  It goes back to the Board's decision in the prior rate case, EB-2005-0544.

And I guess at that time, there was no discussion around the classification of the retractable shares.  Would you agree with that?  I...

MS. McSHANE:  Did you say there was no discussion?  Or there was a discussion?  

MR. STOLL:  There was no discussion, from my recollection. 

MS. McSHANE:  I don't recall any.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the discussion arose subsequently as a result of the qualification put in the auditor's report, which became an issue for Union Gas?  That is my understanding.  

MR. COWAN:  I think that's correct.  

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So this would really be the first rate application...

MR. COWAN:  That we have had to deal with.  

MR. STOLL:  Since that time?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.

We have Mr. Millar will be up next.  

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.  

I would like to start just by -- with a couple of follow-up questions on the GIC issue.  I think we have been over this quite a bit, so I will try to be brief.


But Mr. Buonaguro took you through the covenants with the bank and the requirements of the bank, and his view -- which I think you agreed with -- that the GIC, taking out the GIC is not itself a specific contractual requirement, but in your view it is -- it is what you had to do to meet the covenants with the bank.

Have I characterized that accurately?  

MR. COWAN:  I would think -- I would think that is correct, but I would think also that it was likely a discussion with the banker, and was conceived as an effective way of dealing with the covenant problem.  

MR. MILLAR:  Now, did NRG explore alternate ways to deal with the covenant problem?  I don't want to call it a problem; the covenant issue?

MR. COWAN:  Anything I tell you is hearsay.  

I believe that they have examined it and continue to be conscious of it, and examine it to see what alternatives there are.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you aware of them having explored any particular alternatives?

MR. COWAN:  I have been told that alternatives were explored, but that there wasn't any readily available financing that had an effective change.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Tunley, I believe, suggested that an injection of equity would be an alternative to meet the covenants.  I wasn't sure if you agreed with that or not.  Is that true or is that not true?

MR. COWAN:  Well, I suppose that an injection of equity would be certainly a method of meeting the covenant, but...

MR. MILLAR:  That would be an alternative?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.  You would have to find the equity.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Do you know if NRG explored that option?

MR. COWAN:  I believe the answer to that is "no".

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  But I can't tell you that.

MR. MILLAR:  And I just want to make sure I understand the cost to ratepayers of this GIC, So I will try and go through this quickly.

By my calculation, it adds about $150,000 to the revenue requirement, but I will show you how I got there at least generally, and you can either agree with me or disagree with me.

So I would like to take you to Exhibit E8, tab 1, schedule 2.  That is the updated version.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I am looking at -- this is the analysis of cost of capital for 2011 test year, and the bottom portion of the chart is the test year.  Do you see that?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's where it shows the total debt instrument of 9.9 million.  You have a cost rate, which I take to be the interest rate of 6.69 percent, and that gives you a -- what is called a return, but what I understand the amount you have to pay to the bank of $662,000.  Have I got that right?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's the carrying costs; correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you look down at the total debt, that is I guess NRG's debt for rate-making purposes.  That is 7.8 million; do you see that?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You get that by subtracting the compensating balance, which is the GIC?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you go all the way over to return, you still have $652,000; is that right?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is 10,000 less than $662,000, because I guess it would be the interest you earn on the GIC?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So you are still seeking to recover the full -- almost the full amount owing on the 9.9 million, even though your total debt is actually only 7.8 million for rate-making purposes.  Have I got that right?  You reverse engineered -- you have an interest --

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- or cost rate of 8.26 percent on the 7.8 million, but I understand you just reverse engineered that number, because you knew you had to recover $652,000 to cover the cost, the full cost of the loan?

MS. O'MEARA:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is a bit convoluted.

But if you were to actually apply 6.69 percent to 7.8 million, I get something like $500,000.  I ran that on some old numbers, so it is probably not quite right, but it is about $500,000; is that right?

MS. O'MEARA:  That sounds reasonable, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the difference is about $150,000?

MS. O'MEARA:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So we can agree that if you could find an -- I understand the alternative might not be zero cost, but if you did not have to carry that GIC, the revenue requirement would go down by approximately $150,000?

MS. O'MEARA:  That seems like a logical statement, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

I am going to move on to cost of capital now.  I think some of these -- many of these questions will be for Ms. McShane, but others can chime in as appropriate.

I had a series of questions which I think has been covered, so I will try and go through this quickly.

Ms. McShane, I think Mr. Buonaguro, perhaps it was Mr. Stoll - I can't recall - put this to you, but in the 0544 decision, the Board essentially decided -- and I will read from that decision:
"The Board agrees with the principle that the actual ratio should be used unless the ratio is considered to be unreasonable."


And one of the counsel put that to you and I think, generally speaking, you agree with that; is that right?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are proposing an equity ratio of 42 percent in the current application?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  The idea was to maintain the same equity ratio as was approved last time, given the evolution of the capital structure over the next several years.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And you recognize, I think, that at least currently the actual equity ratio is something less than that?

MS. McSHANE:  It depends how you measure it, but if you measure it on the basis of gross debt, that's correct.

If you -- excuse me.  If you measure it on the basis of net debt -- let me just double-check.

So I had done two calculations of the capital structure ratios for the test year.  If you measured the capital structure using gross debt, without the GIC offset, the common equity ratio would have been 38 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MS. McSHANE:  But measured alternatively, where you actually net off the GIC, which effectively reduces the amount of debt outstanding, then the equity ratio is in excess of 46 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I understand there is two ways to calculate it.  My understanding is that the first way is the preferable way to do that, though I confess I am no expert on that.

Is one of those approaches preferable to the other?  My understanding is you should not include the GIC.  Would you agree with that?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, when you say you "should not include" it, what do you...

MR. MILLAR:  You should use the 38 percent figure as opposed to the 46 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  If I were looking at somebody's capital structure and I realized that they had $2.75 million of liquid assets, then I would think that a reasonable way of looking at the capital structure would be to look at that gross debt, net of the outstanding compensating balance.

MR. MILLAR:  You say a reasonable approach.  Are both of the approaches reasonable, or is one preferable to the other, in your opinion?

MS. McSHANE:  I would think that the second one is preferable, because, I mean, from -- you know, from the point of view of an investor looking at the capital structure, you've got a very liquid asset that effectively is an offset to the long-term debt.

MR. MILLAR:  The total debt they're showing for rate-making purposes does not include the GIC; is that correct?  That's netted out?

MS. McSHANE:  It is netted out, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Either way, the actual ratio you are proposing doesn't match the actual, no matter which way you cut it?

MS. McSHANE:  No, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Did I understand the reason for that was because, given the way that the capital structure may be evolving over the next few years, that 42 was probably more or less what it would average out to over the next five years?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  It would basically average out to something along those lines, and 42 percent was determined to be reasonable for the business risk last time.  And given that there was no evidence that there had been a significant change in business risk, then 42 was viewed as appropriate for this test period.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So your view still holds that, generally speaking, the actual should be used, unless there is a good reason not to, and, in your opinion, 42 probably over the next five years is more or less what the actual will be?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If you are leaving that, Mr. Millar, I would like to further explore one element you just turned up.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. McShane, you characterized the GIC as a liquid asset.  When viewed in conjunction with the bank covenants and knowing its purpose, and to establish the understanding between the banker and the company, do you still view it as a liquid asset, a highly liquid asset?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, liquid in the sense that it can be liquidated without any decrease in value.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  But would it not -- its liquidity would not be affected by the covenants and the coverage ratios?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Isn't it inherent that if it were to be liquidated, it would have to be replaced with an instrument of equal import?

MS. McSHANE:  Absolutely, yes.  So in that sense, it is not like they can just take the money and run with it, so to speak.  I mean, it is... but at the same time, it is an asset which effectively does reduce the gross amount of debt outstanding.

I mean, if you -- you can take the 2,750 on this side, and the 9-plus million on the other side, and it nets out to 7-ish.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

Ms. McShane, in your report –- and that is at -- I assume you have it, but it is Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1, can I ask you to turn to page 21 of that report, table 4?

MS. McSHANE:  I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  This is where you provide, I think for comparative purposes, the allowed equity ratios of a variety of other either LDCs or groups of LDCs, both in Canada and the US; is that correct?

MS. McSHANE:  In this table?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, in table 4.

MS. McSHANE:  None of these -- none of these utilities --

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, they're not from the US.  They're all Canadian?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  They're all Canadian.

MS. McSHANE:  But other than that, you are right.

MR. MILLAR:  Am I right that seven of the 11 have 40 percent - in fairness, one has 40.5 percent - but seven of the 11 have either 40 or 45 -- 40.5 percent allowed equity ratio?

MS. McSHANE:  Before I answer that, can I just do one small update to it?  Sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Only if it doesn't change it from 40.

[Laughter.]

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry.  So if you come down, Pacific Northern Gas Northeast is -- remember there is a footnote here, that says they were currently applying for 42 and a half and 47 and a half?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Pacific Gas Northeast is now 40 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  And Pacific Northern Gas West is 45 percent.  So you asked me how many had 40?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Was the question?  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is still seven; it is just a different seven?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.  You said Pacific North --

MS. McSHANE:  Pacific Northern Gas Northeast, which was 36, is now 40.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  And Pacific Northern Gas West, which was 40, is now 45.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you have this in your table, but it is true, isn't it, that virtually all electricity LDCs in Ontario have a 40-percent equity ratio?

MS. McSHANE:  You mean allowed?  As opposed to actual?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that's true.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, many of them are entirely debt-financed, as I understand, but the allowed ratio is 40 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  At least by one way of calculating, NRG's actual is below 40 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  If you do it on gross debt for 2011.

MR. MILLAR:  That is what we just discussed?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

You are familiar with the argument, obviously, because Mr. Tunley has presented it, but some argue that NRG in fact has no equity at all.

You are aware of that argument, at least?

MS. McSHANE:  I have heard that argument.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a view on that?  Are retractable shares debt or are they equity?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, retractable shares are considered by accountants to be a liability.  But let's remember, I mean, this -- my understanding is that the retraction provision that was there has been – postponed, I guess is the right word for that.

And as I understood the conversation today, that they're looking to have it removed entirely.

And these are the same shares that have been there since at least 2003.  So I mean, the substance hasn't changed of these shares.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I understand that.  But the question is:  Are retractable shares generally considered debt, or are they equity?

MS. McSHANE:  I guess they're sort of viewed as a bit of both.  They have debt-like features and they have, you know, equity-like features.

MR. MILLAR:  My understanding was that NRG's auditor

-- and I stand to be corrected, because I am working from memory here -- but their own auditor, there was a note essentially indicating that this should be considered debt and not equity?

If I have mischaracterized that, Mr. King will correct me, but I believe there is an auditor's note to that effect?

MS. McSHANE:  I believe that they're supposed to count them as liabilities from an accounting perspective.

MR. MILLAR:  So debt?

MS. McSHANE:  From a GAAP perspective, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say "liabilities" I am easily confused.  So that means debt?

MR. KING:  Accounting rules require that they be shown on audited financial statements as a liability.

The shares are shares.  They are shares in the company.  They are not debt instruments.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. KING:  The shares have been, as she says, they're -- the same shares with the retractable nature have been in place since 2003, so previous to the last rate case.  And the retractable nature has been postponed both to the bank and to Union Gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I think I understand the response.

Assume for me for a moment that the Board finds or it is determined that NRG's actual equity ratio is zero.  In other words, they're 100-percent debt-financed in terms of a debt-equity ratio.

Would that make any difference on your opinion of the appropriate deemed debt equity structure?  By "deemed" I mean your suggestion of 42 percent.

I know we are not -- in your view, it is not really deemed, but since it is not quite actual I am going to call it deemed.

In other words, if they have no equity, would you still support a 42/58 debt-equity split?

MS. McSHANE:  Let me see if I understand this.  So...

MR. MILLAR:  Your report is premised on the fact that their actual debt -- equity rate is somewhere between 36 and 46?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  I am asking you to -- if your opinion on the appropriate deemed capital structure would be the same if their actual equity was zero percent.

MS. McSHANE:  I am hesitating, because -- I mean certainly the -- I would be looking at an appropriate equity ratio within a range -- I keep hitting that, sorry -- within a range of, you know, 60/40 to 52/48.

I mean, I don't think that you would be looking at anything outside that range, and then you would have to be -- you know, take into account at the same time what the proper equity return should be.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, fair enough.  I am not asking you to tell me what the split you would recommend would be.

But is it fair to say that would impact your analysis?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, it could.  But within, you know, a relatively -- I call it a relatively limited range.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

I understand -- and we can pull these figures up if necessary -- but I understand that NRG's long-term debt has increased from about five million in 2006 to 10 million or so in 2010.

Do you accept that, subject to check?  I think I can pull up the figures, if necessary, but does that sound right to you?  Or perhaps Ms. O'Meara can confirm that?

MS. McSHANE:  No, that sounds right to me.

MR. MILLAR:  There has been no injection of equity over that time; is that correct?

MS. McSHANE:  That's my understanding.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. COWAN:  Well, subject to the fact that no money has been taken out.

MS. O'MEARA:  There has been no dividends either.

MR. COWAN:  So that is an automatic injection of equity.

MR. MILLAR:  Explain that to me.

MR. COWAN:  Well, if you don't take any money out, if the shareholder doesn't take any money out, and he is leaving money there, the equity of the company --

MR. MILLAR:  Is the same?

MR. COWAN:  -- is enhanced, I think.

MS. McSHANE:  If I could just --

MR. COWAN:  But that is being reduced, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the debt is double today what it was in 2006; is that correct?

MR. COWAN:  But so is the asset base increased.  And the debt is being reduced in an aggressive way.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it's in the process of being reduced, but it is still double what it was five years ago?

MR. COWAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  And the pipeline is also now an asset.

MR. MILLAR:  And we are looking -- the recommendation is to maintain the same debt-equity split from the last proceeding, which wasn't quite five years ago, but it was close to four years ago now, I guess.

Should the fact that debt has doubled and equity, subject to what your explanation is, remained more or less the same -- should we be concerned that the deemed ratio is not changing?

Am I the only one who views that as something you would at least consider?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, it is certainly something you would consider, but, you know, you would consider --

MR. MILLAR:  Did you consider it?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, of course.  The whole idea is that we had a major project that was financed.  The financing associated with -- well, it wasn't attributable specifically to the pipeline, but the debt financing that occurred when the pipeline was built has in it provisions to pay it down, as Mr. Cowan said, on a fairly aggressive basis.

The company has, you know, no plans to remove equity from the firm over the next five years.  So, you know, at a point in time, the capital structure does reflect the new financing, but as you move forward, the capital structure, you know, moves back to where it was before, and actually to more equity than it had previously.

MR. MILLAR:  This is over the five-year time horizon you're speaking of?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, exactly.

MR. MILLAR:  You concede that nobody has a crystal ball and people have plans over what will happen for five years?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But we can have no real certainty on what the actual capital structure will be in 2017?

MS. McSHANE:  True.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

I would like to ask some questions about the requested ROE.  As I understand it, assuming the 42-58 split, you are seeking an additional risk premium, if I can put it that way, of 50 basis points over the Board's recently determined ROE of 9.85; is that correct?

MS. McSHANE:  Oh, yes.  I mean, when you say 9.85, whatever the number would be based on the most recent application of the formula, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is a better way to put it, 50 basis points over whatever the Board's methodology spits out?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And to paraphrase your report, and you can add whatever you like, but I understand that the main reason you think that that is appropriate is because NRG has higher business risk and, in particular, higher business risk as compared to Enbridge or Union.  Is that a fair high-level assessment of your rationale?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, I mean, and the Board determined last time that the company's business risk justified a risk premium of 0.5 percent over Enbridge.

And I looked at the business risk and I don't see any reason that the level of business risk would have changed materially enough to alter the size of that risk premium.

MR. MILLAR:  What was the date of that, that decision with the 50 basis points?

MS. McSHANE:  That would have been September 20th, 2006.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So obviously that was before the Board's current report on the cost of capital?

MS. McSHANE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Clearly, you are familiar with that report?

MS. McSHANE:  I am.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, you submitted evidence with regard to that report?  In that process, you submitted evidence?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  I submitted a report.

MR. MILLAR:  For the EDA, I believe?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, it was.

MR. MILLAR:  Obviously you don't think that report should apply to NRG in this case?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, I don't understand what aspect of the report you refer to.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't want the formula adopted by the report to apply to NRG in this case?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You are seeking a variance, essentially?

MS. McSHANE:  I didn't understand that to be the case, but...

MR. MILLAR:  Well, as I understand it, the current -- currently the formula would spit out 9.85 percent ROE.  You are asking for that, plus 50 basis points on top of it?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  And perhaps I misunderstood what the import of the decision was.  I understood that that would -- that the report changed sort of the underlying formula, but I didn't understand that that meant that that same number was supposed to apply to everybody without any potential differential.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We don't necessarily have to get into that here.  People can reference that in argument, I guess.

What the report means isn't really for you or me, necessarily, to decide, but folks can make argument on that and draw whatever conclusions that they wish.

My simple point was that NRG is not seeking the ROE result that would result from a strict application of the formula in the Board's cost-of-capital report?

MS. McSHANE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You want 50 points higher?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that there would be a risk premium to that ROE in the same manner in which there was a risk premium above the old formula.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, it is an additional risk premium, right, because the ROE already has a risk premium in it?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, yes.  The risk premium in the formula, the way I understand it, is a risk premium applicable to effectively a benchmark utility.  And that is what I understood the old formula essentially applied to either Enbridge or -- I mean, the risk premium for Enbridge was the same risk premium as for Hydro One.  It was the same risk premium as -- Hydro One Transmission, I should say.

It is the same risk premium as was applicable to the electricity distributors, and that was the return over which NRG was allowed 50 basis points in 2006.

MR. MILLAR:  In 2006, right.  Okay, fair enough.

So since you were involved, at least to some extent, in the Board's crafting of its cost-of-capital report, it is fair to say that this was meant to be a generic review of what the cost of capital should be?

In other words, it wasn't specific to a single utility?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  The way I understood, it was to be sort of a benchmark number.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I may disagree with that in argument, but that is fair enough.

The Board didn't seek evidence on specific ROEs or cost of capital for that amount for different distributors.  It didn't ask, for example, for a large distributor versus a small distributor or one with a big service territory versus small?

MS. McSHANE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  It produces a single result; is that fair enough?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And my understanding - we may disagree about this - was that the Board intended that that number apply to all distributors unless a distributor could convince the Board that it was inappropriate.

Does that match your understanding?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, I think it is one of the possible interpretations.  I mean, I'm not sure it is clear, and that's exactly why there was, you know, the differential approach that was presented in the evidence to say, well, if the Board -- if that's the way the Board sees this new ROE policy as proceeding, that everybody gets the same ROE unless there are extraordinary circumstances, then I put in the report an alternative, which would be to have the ROE determined by the formula set out in the cost-of-capital report and a different capital structure.

MR. MILLAR:  The report will say what it says, so thank you for giving me your view on that.

You would agree with me, to the extent that this report applies to 80-some-odd distributors, it is fair to say that not all 80 of those distributors will actually have exactly the same risk; is that fair?

MS. McSHANE:  I think that is very fair, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, your suggestion is that NRG is more risky, for example, than Enbridge?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And would you agree that the Board would have recognized this in adopting the formula that it did, essentially recognize that this is kind of an average -- I don't want to call it an average, but that the formula would recognize the fact that different distributors wouldn't necessarily have precisely the same level of risk?

MS. McSHANE:  I am not quite sure I understand your question.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the Board adopted a generic approach and a formula that absent evidence to the contrary, at least in my view, can be applied to all distributors.

So my question is -- maybe you don't agree with the premise, but assuming that you agree with that premise -- would you agree that in some ways it reflects an average of what the cost of capital or the ROE should be?  It incorporates the fact that not every distributor will have an identical risk profile?

MS. McSHANE:  I am not really sure how to answer that.  It would incorporate -- it would be the number that would, in my view, apply to a distributor of basically average risk.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe some of that can be left for argument, but I thought I would at least put the question to you.

You are essentially using Enbridge as the benchmark against which NRG's rate of return should be set?

MS. McSHANE:  That's what they were measured against last time, them and Union, and so, yes, I used them as benchmarks.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand that is what was done in 2006, but that is the benchmark you are currently using as well?

MS. McSHANE:  Well --

MR. MILLAR:  You have maintained that?

MS. McSHANE:  -- yeah, that's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Now the 9.85 percent that results from the Board's current formula, that doesn't use Union or Enbridge specifically as a benchmark; is that correct?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  It would use -– this gets back to my previous questions -- it would use -- I don't want to call it an average, but it considers all distributors, essentially?

MS. McSHANE:  No, I think -- that's right.  It considers all distributors, but it wasn't developed from cost of equity for those distributors either.

I mean, it was developed from the cost of equity from companies that actually are publicly traded.  So it is applicable to -- if you will, to all distributors, but it is perhaps –- depending on your interpretation, but it wasn't developed from them.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think we agree on that.

MS. McSHANE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  If you were to do an analysis solely on 
-- pardon me, on Enbridge or Union, do you think you would get exactly the same result as the Board's cost-of-capital report produced?  In other words, would it be 9.85, if you are able to answer that?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  Because, I mean, if you look at the Board's report, the Board's report was essentially the outcome of a whole bunch of different people's recommendations, people's studies, different samples.

So if I came out exactly with 9.85, I think that would be --

MR. MILLAR:  It would be a surprise?

MS. McSHANE:  It would be a real surprise, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, the current ROE that Union and Enbridge are collecting, if I can call it that, is not 9.85?

MS. McSHANE:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  They would have whatever their locked-in rate is from their -- the base year?

MS. McSHANE:  Yeah, because –- yeah, they had whatever was locked in for the five-year incentive ratemaking plan.

MR. MILLAR:  It would currently be less than 9.85; is that fair?

MS. McSHANE:  What was locked n?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Oh, yes.  A lot less, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You filed evidence in that proceeding?  In the cost-of-capital proceeding, pardon me.  The Board's --

MS. McSHANE:  I filed a report.  I don't think I would call it evidence, but...

MR. MILLAR:  A report?  Okay.  That's fair enough.  I did review that.  In fact, you also -- there were final submissions prepared for the EDA, which I think you had a hand in as well; is that fair?

MS. McSHANE:  True.

MR. MILLAR:  So there was more than just the report.  There were other submissions by the EDA that I -– that it appeared to me an expert would have been involved in, and I assume that person is you?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  I did, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That evidence or that report and those submissions, as I read them, did not directly address this type of issue; is that fair to say?

I am not saying they should have, because that wasn't necessarily the point of the Board's report, and as generic review, but it didn't get into whether a particular small utility might have a different business risk than a larger utility or anything like that?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I think the focus was sort of on the benchmark, and not --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE: -- company-specific circumstances.

MR. MILLAR:  I wouldn't expect to find anything in that report that would be relevant to the issue before the Board today?

MS. McSHANE:  I don't remember having anything in that report that dealt with differences, but there could have been.  I just don't recall.

MR. MILLAR:  I didn't see anything, and I assume your counsel could always refer to it in argument if there is, in fact, something there.  I don't really think that was the purpose of the report you filed, so I wouldn't have expected to see anything.  I suppose Mr. King will let us know if he digs something up.

Just give me one moment.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.

Any redirect, Mr. King?

MR. KING:  I have none.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

Sorry, Mr. Sommerville?
Questions by the Board:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One question that is not really related to cost of capital, but has to do with the impact 
-- I am sure it is in the materials, but I haven't been able to actually put my finger on it -- the impact of the ethanol plant on the load profile of the utility, or the profile of the utility generally, sort of how it has affected the fluctuation in throughput for the utility.

MR. STOLL:  Well, can I provide a little bit of information into -- like, our demand and throughput is pretty constant.

We have about 350 days a year we're demanding and consuming roughly the similar amount.  We have a very flat...

So I would assume you have just raised –- have raised the low profile up by adding us.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you would have flattened it to some extent?  And that is what I am interested in.

MR. STOLL:  I -- certainly on a percent, like, percentage basis and stuff, yes, there would be a flattening of it, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's what I would like to see.

MR. KING:  A throughput forecast as an element of risk, is what you're --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is an element of risk, but I was more interested in –- I mean, I think it informs a number of things in the application.

So I am just interested know what the impact of the throughput associated with the ethanol plant has been on the overall profile of the utility in terms of its throughput, how those graphs look.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there something in evidence that we have now, do you know?

MR. STOLL:  I am not sure.  I guess one of the issues --

MR. KING:  There is throughput data -- there is throughput data in the schedules.  We didn't spend time on them, because it was an operating revenue and we settled that.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  I guess you don't buy our gas as throughput.  Like, we are one of the direct-purchase customers.  That is on a transaction you are handling?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is more of a cash throughput than it is a gas throughput?  You are buying --

MR. STOLL:  Blackstone, our energy service provider, arranges for gas delivery.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  The commodity is not something that NRG is involved in, to my knowledge.

We deliver it.  We deliver it to Union.  Union delivers it to NRG.  And there is a distribution bill that we receive for the distribution of that.

MR. KING:  That's right.

MR. STOLL:  But it wouldn't show up as the line item on the bill.  And actually, I think that, by coincidence, is in the motion.  I am not sure.

MR. KING:  That's right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  I understand that, I think. So that's fine.  I think I am satisfied.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If nothing else, I understand there has been some discussion on schedule for submissions and argument.

Mr. Millar, do you have anything on --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think we have agreements amongst the parties on an appropriate schedule.

Mr. Viraney has just reminded me that Thanksgiving is in here somewhere, but I don't think that we hit it.

The suggested approach is that argument-in-chief would be filed on September 20th, which I believe is a week Monday.

Final argument from the parties -– or, pardon me, from the intervenors and Board staff, September 29th, which is the next Wednesday.

And then reply from NRG on October 6th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  That is acceptable to the Board.  Thank you very much for that.

One other element of this -- and I think I will offer Mr. Stoll an opportunity an opportunity to comment on it --as the Board has combined the motion in with this proceeding, it is the Board's intent to not do anything further with the motion.  It will go through the submissions.  It will issue its decision, and then see where we stand, and leave it to IGPC to contact the Board with what it feels it needs on a go-forward basis.

We have -- there has been cross-examination on the issues.  There has been partial cross-examination on the issues.  We feel that it is likely best to set the context as to where we have gone with the rates portion of this and establish a decision on that, and then deal with the pieces, if there are any left at that time.

Have you had time -- I am asking if you have given any consideration as to what you felt would be your client's best next step, Mr. Stoll.  There are moving parts here.  We feel it might be best to nail down what we can, and then see where we stand.

MR. STOLL:  I haven't really considered that.  I am a little hesitant to jump right in at this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  What were your expectations to go there?

MR. STOLL:  Well, I guess maybe there is a...

If I understand, there is a differing -- or part of the premise advanced is if we know everything except -- or if we know the revenue stream, we should know the number that goes into rate base.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STOLL:  And that shouldn't matter to -- or be affected by the additional costs.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We expect submissions on that, and we haven't -- and the Board will make a determination on that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Which will then establish the starting point for where we go with the rest of the motion, is our thinking.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Depending on where we land on that, what needs to be heard in the motion will vary, and also what your clients will need will vary.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So in that way, it may provide some clarity and may aid in some discussions to maybe hopefully avoid the full thrashing out of the motion.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the Board --

MR. STOLL:  I think that is where you are going.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We would like to provide every opportunity for that to occur.

MR. STOLL:  I understand.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  This is on a separate issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If that is...  Sorry, go ahead, Mr. Stoll.

MR. STOLL:  I guess you are not looking, in this part, for submissions on the jurisdiction or any of the contractual matters.  It just on the appropriateness of rates for the cost of service portion, phase 1 of the --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I think that that will establish a starting point as to where we go from there.  It will also provide an opportunity for some further discussions, I would hope, as to where we land with the -- on the rates issues.

MR. STOLL:  I am thinking about organizing --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  -- my thoughts here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  These submissions and this schedule will be on the rate matters, and there would be some submissions -- I understand, from the cross-examination of Board Staff, that there will be issues on this as to what appropriately are rate issues.

So the Board will make a determination on that, and that flows from what you were just mentioning about the formula, as to whether or not -- how the rate base is established and what the aid to construct and -- you know, how that is derived at.

So I think that the argument that we are establishing a schedule for are for the rates matters.  Within that, there will be questions as to what is appropriate for rates.

MR. STOLL:  What is in rates.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  And the ones that clearly aren't will be left for another day, if they still exist.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.  Like, the issue around nomination, our fees are certainly beyond that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And including any adjustment that would need to be made; right?  That can also be part of the submissions that you make as to how that kind of thing can happen, as well.

So that if, for example, it is part of your submission that there is a rebate or some other accommodation that is required, that would also be part of the submissions that are made in this core argument, these core submissions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think it is important we get some clarity on this, if you still need it.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I think I understand where you are going, and...

MR. QUESNELLE:  From a hierarchy here, I think what we need to do is establish what the rates are, and part of that -- the way there, there are some arguments to be made as to what is appropriately a rates issue here --

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- and what is a contractual issue or what is the subject of the motion.

The jurisdictional issues, what the Board's role is, and what have you, as far as the contractual issues --

MR. STOLL:  We can leave those completely separate.  I understand that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  Okay, I think -- if I require clarification, if I could -- prior to Mr. King's submission, if I could just send something written to the Board and just requesting that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be fine.  I think if we are going to err on this, the Board in its -- well, I shouldn't go that far, because obviously Mr. King needs to establish what is in the context of his argument-in-chief.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that to the extent that we have just heard cross-examination on all issues that we thought pertained to the rates, I think we are able to delineate and make that demarcation as to what is obviously not.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So let's follow that same line of what we just went through in the cross-examination on the issues.  I think we brushed up against them in the motion material, but we recognize it was into an area we don't need right now.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So we are able to find that.  I am not suggesting it is a bright line, but the -- we know where that edge is --

MR. STOLL:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- well enough to be able to establish the context of the arguments.

MR. STOLL:  I think we have an idea of where we're getting close to so --

MR. QUESNELLE:  So we will go through this stage, and once the Board's decision is out on this area, then we will have -- you will have a better understanding of what your client needs.

MR. STOLL:  At that point, we can kind of come back and revisit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, yes.  This docket is not closing for other reasons, anyway.  We have phase 2 of this, and that will be reflected in the decision.

So it is not as though we are opening another matter.  This matter is still open.

MR. STOLL:  No, I appreciate that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just related to the argument schedule, I just wanted to advise the Board and confirm my understanding with the parties.

The intervenors discussed the issues where there may be an issue as between intervenors, and I am thinking specifically of cost allocation.  And rather than ask the Board for leave to submit reply argument and add another step in this case, because I thought the issues were fairly limited and could be dealt with fairly efficiently in the argument, that the parties were going to advise each other what issues they are going to raise that the other party might be concerned about, particularly in cost allocation, so that we could at least address it in our argument.

So the schedule is as is, but the parties are going to tell each other, I am raising X issue on cost allocation, and then the other party can address it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If that is workable for the parties, the Board certainly accepts that as a manner in which to go forward.

MR. STOLL:  I think that is Mr. Buonaguro and myself.  I am fine with that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you for that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any other loose ends?

Obviously, thank you very much for the witnesses and your participation and being very forthright in your answers where you could be, and, where you weren't, you were also forthright.

[Laughter]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, and we will be adjourned.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 12:59 p.m.
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